IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LAVON KING,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 95,669

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

\_\_\_\_/

### PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CARL S. McGINNES #230502 ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

###

#### I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Lavon King was the defendant in the trial court, appellant before the District Court of Appeal, First District of Florida, and will be referred to in this brief as "petitioner," "defendant," or by his proper name. Reference to the record on appeal will be by use of volume number (in roman numerals) followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

Filed with this brief is an appendix containing a copy of the district court's decision in *King v. State*, 729 So.2d 542 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), as well as other documents pertinent to the case. Reference to the appendix will be by use of the symbol "A" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Count I of an information containing three charges alleged that petitioner, on June 10, 1997, with a handgun, robbed money or other property owned by Payless Shoe Source, from the person or custody of Charlett Edwards, contrary to Sections 775.087 and 812.13(2)(a), Florida Statutes (1997). Count II alleged that petitioner, on June 10, 1997, having been previously convicted of a felony, burglary, was in possession of a handgun, contrary to Section 790.23, Florida Statutes (1997). Count III alleged that petitioner, on June 8, 1997, with a handgun, robbed money or other property owed by Texaco Service Station, from the person or custody of Phyllis Eason, contrary to Sections 775.087 and 812.13(2)(a), Florida Statutes (1997)(I-8-9).

The state filed a Notice Of Intent To Classify Defendant As A Prison Release Re-Offender (I-36, 153).

Petitioner proceeded to a trial by jury on Count I of the information only; the jury returned a verdict finding Petitioner guilty as charged of robbery with a firearm (I-78, IV-512).

On December 12, 1997, counsel for Petitioner filed a Motion To Dismiss State's Notice Of Intent To Impose Prison Releasee Reoffender Punishment Sentencing, raising a separation of powers argument (I-83-85).

At sentencing, the state presented a conviction and ten-year sentence dated September 15, 1992, for attempted sexual battery, in case no. 92-2688-CFA. According to the PSI, petitioner was released from prison on March 26, 1997. Through counsel, petitioner indicated he was released April 1, 1997 (I-158-160). Counsel for petitioner and the state then argued the constitutional issue raised by the defendant's motion to dismiss (I-160-163).

The trial court denied the motion to dismiss and, ruling that the trial court has no discretion in sentencing, adjudged petitioner guilty and sentenced him to life in prison without parole or gain time (I-86, 91-100, 164).

Notice of appeal was timely filed (I-106), petitioner was adjudged insolvent (I-105), and the Public Defender of the Second Judicial Circuit was been designated to handle the appeal.

By opinion dated April 20, 1999, the district court stated:

Lavon King appeals his life sentence under the "Prison Releasee Reoffender Punishment Act." See 775.082(8), Fla. Stat. (1997). We affirm, but certify as a question of great public importance the same question certified in Woods v. State, 98-1955, \_\_\_\_So.2d \_\_\_\_ (Fla. 1st DCA Mar. 26, 1999).

King v. State, 729 So.2d 542 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999)(A-2).
In Woods v. State, 24 F.L.W. D831 (Fla. 1st DCA Mar. 26,

1999), the district court certified the following issue:

DOES THE PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER ACT, CODIFIED AS SECTION 775.082(8), FLORIDA STATUTES (1997), VIOLATE THE SEPARATION OF POWERS CLAUSE OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION?

Although the Notice To Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction (A-3-4) was not timely filed, by Amended Order Postponing Decision On Jurisdiction And Briefing Schedule dated August 16, 1999, the Court granted petitioner's request to accept the untimely notice (A-5). This brief on the merits follows:

## III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Prison Releasee Reoffender Act authorizes the State

Attorney to apply statutory criteria in deciding when to seek mandatory sentencing for a person convicted of qualifying offenses. The criteria themselves are vague and include some factors traditionally exercised by courts in sentencing, namely considering the wishes of the victim and the existence of extenuating circumstances. The Act, however, prevents the sentencing judge from imposing any sentence except the mandatory term if the state attorney has filed a notice to invoke the Act.

As written, the Act violates separation of powers in the Florida Constitution by empowering the state attorney to make decisions that encroach upon the inherent sentencing authority of the courts. The state attorney's executive branch function to select the charge or charges does not include the additional discretion to apply statutory sentencing criteria and thereby preclude the court from evaluating those same criteria.

While the legislature may enact mandatory sentences, leaving no discretion to the courts, and state attorneys may properly choose to file charges under those statutes, the legislature may not delegate to the state attorney the special discretion to select both the statutory crime, and to bind the court to a sentence not mandated by the legislature. That is, <u>when</u> <u>sentencing discretion is allowed by the legislature</u>, the court

must not be foreclosed from exercising any discretion.

The First District Court in this case and in **Woods v. State**, no. 98-1955, \_\_\_\_So.2d\_\_\_ (Fla. 1st DCA March 26, 1999), along with the Third and Fifth Districts, have upheld the Act on the grounds that the legislature may pass a mandatory sentencing law, and that the prosecutor has broad discretion in selecting the charge. Those courts found no separation of powers violation, and no way to interpret the Act as affording any discretion to the court.

The Second and Fourth District Courts of Appeal have not ruled the Act unconstitutional. Those courts have interpreted the Act as not divesting the court from exercising discretion to apply the statutory exceptions even if the state attorney files the notice after (impliedly) rejecting those exceptions.

The petitioner's argument is alternative: Either the court retains final sentencing authority as in the habitual offender and other enhancement acts, as interpreted by the Second and Fourth Districts; or, if the courts are bound by the state attorney's notice and have no discretion, as held by the First, Third and Fifth Districts, the Act violates separation of powers.

#### **IV. ARGUMENT**

#### ISSUE PRESENTED:

AS CONSTRUED IN **WOODS V. STATE<sup>1</sup>** THE PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER ACT, SECTION 775.082(8)FLORIDA STATUTES, DELEGATES JUDICIAL SENTENCING POWER TO THE STATE ATTORNEY, IN VIOLATION OF THE SEPARATION OF POWERS CLAUSE, ARTICLE II, SECTION 3 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

Florida's Constitution, Article II, Section 3, divides the powers of state government into legislative, executive, and judicial branches and says that "No person belonging to one branch shall exercise any powers appertaining to either of the other branches unless expressly provided herein". The Prison Releasee Reoffender Act, Section 775.082(8), Florida Statutes (1997), as interpreted by the district court, violates that provision because it delegates legislative authority to establish penalties for crimes and judicial authority to impose sentences to the state attorney as an official of the executive branch.

The Act, now designated as Section 775.082(9), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1998), includes the following relevant portions:

(a)1. "Prison release reoffender" means any defendant
who commits, or attempts to commit:
 [specified or described violent felonies]

\* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \*

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>24 Fla.Law Weekly D831 (Fla. 1st DCA March 26, 1999). Similar rulings were issued by the Third and Fifth District Courts of Appeal. <u>McKnight v. State</u>, 24 Fla.Law Weekly D439 (Fla. 3d DCA Feb. 17, 1999); <u>Speed v. State</u>, 24 Fla. Law Weekly D1017 (Fla. 5th DCA April 23, 1999).

within 3 years of being released from a state correctional facility operated by the Department of Corrections or a private vendor.

2. If the state attorney determines that a defendant is a prison release reoffender as defined in subparagraph 1., the state attorney may seek to have the court sentence the defendant as a prison release reoffender. Upon proof from the state attorney that establishes by a preponderance of the evidence that a defendant is a prison release reoffender as defined in this section, such defendant is not eligible for sentencing under the sentencing guidelines and must be sentenced as follows:

a. For a felony punishable by life, by a term of imprisonment for life;b. For a felony of the first degree, by a term of imprisonment of 30 years;c. For a felony of the second degree, by a term of imprisonment of 15 years; andd. For a felony of the third degree, by a term of imprisonment of 5 years.

(b) A person sentenced under paragraph (a) shall be released only by expiration of sentence and shall not be eligible for parole, control release, or any form of early release. Any person sentenced under paragraph (a) must serve 100 percent of the court-imposed sentence.

(c) Nothing in this subsection shall prevent a court from imposing a greater sentence of incarceration as authorized by law, pursuant to s. 775.084 or any other provision of law. (Emphasis added).

The following portion of the Act describes the criteria for

exempting persons from the otherwise mandatory sentence:

(d)1. It is the intent of the Legislature that offenders previously released from prison who meet the criteria in paragraph (a) be punished to the fullest extent of the law and as provided in this subsection, unless any of the following circumstances exist:

a. The prosecuting attorney does not have sufficient evidence to prove the highest charge available;

b.	The	test	imony	of	a ma	teria	l witr	ness d	anno	t be ob	otaine	ed;
с.	The	vict	im doe	es n	ot w	vant tl	<u>ne off</u>	Eender	to :	receive	the	_
mar	ndat	<u>ory p</u>	rison	sen	tenc	e and	prov	ides a	a writ	ten		
<u>sta</u>	ateme	<u>ent t</u>	o that	t ef	fect	; or						
d.	Othe	<u>er ex</u>	tenuat	ting	cir	cumsta	ances	exist	: whice	ch prec	lude	the
jus	st pi	rosec	<u>ution</u>	of	the	offend	<u>ler</u> .	(Empl	nasis	added)	•	

The state attorney has the discretion (may seek) to invoke the sentencing sanctions by evaluating subjective criteria; if so opted by the state attorney the court is required to (must) impose the maximum sentence. The rejection of statutory exceptions by the prosecutor divests the trial judge of any sentencing discretion. This unique delegation of discretion to the executive branch displacing the sentencing power inherently vested in the judicial branch conflicts with separation of powers because, as will be shown, when <u>sentencing</u> discretion is statutorily authorized, the judiciary must have at least a share of that discretion.

The Act was upheld against separation of powers challenge in <u>Woods</u> because "Decisions whether and how to prosecute one accused of a crime and whether to seek enhanced punishment pursuant to law rest within the sphere of responsibility relegated to the executive, and the state attorneys possess complete discretion with regard thereto." 24 Fla. Law Weekly at D832. (App. 8).

Since Florida's constitution expressly limits persons belonging to one branch from exercising any powers of another

branch,<sup>2</sup> the question certified first requires an interpretation of what powers the Act allocates or denies to which branch.

The Woods court found no ambiguity requiring interpretation, saying "the legislature's rather clearly expressed intent was to remove substantially all sentencing discretion from trial judges in cases where the prosecutor elects to seek enhanced sentencing pursuant to the Act and proves the defendant's eligibility." <u>Ibid</u>.(App. 5) Further, the district court held that the discretion afforded by subparagraph (8)(d)1. "was intended to extend only to the prosecutor, and not to the trial court." <u>Ibid</u>.

<sup>2</sup><u>See</u>, <u>Askew v. Cross Key Waterways</u>, 372 So.2d 913, 924 (Fla. 1978):

It should be noted that Article II, Section 3, Florida Constitution, contrary to the Constitutions of the United States and the State of Washington, does by its second sentence contain an express limitation upon the exercise by a member of one branch of any powers appertaining to either of the other branches of government.

\* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \*

Regardless of the criticism of the courts' application of the doctrine, we nevertheless conclude that it represents a recognition of the express limitation contained in the second sentence of Article II, Section 3 of our Constitution. Under the fundamental document adopted and several times ratified by the citizens of this State, the legislature is not free to redelegate to an administrative body so much of its lawmaking power as it may deem expedient. And that is at the crux of the issue before us. The power at issue is choosing among sentencing options. The district court acknowledged that in Florida "the plenary power to <u>prescribe</u> the punishment for criminal offenses lies with the legislature, not the courts." Ibid. That analysis is accurate but incomplete, because the legislature's plenary power to prescribe punishment disables not only the courts, but the executive as well. Therein lies the flaw in the Act and the lower court's interpretation of it.

To clarify the argument here, it is not that the legislature is prohibited from enacting a mandatory or minimum mandatory sentence. Rather the argument is that the legislature cannot delegate to the state attorney, through vague standards, the discretion to choose <u>both the charge and the penalty</u> and thereby prohibit the court from performing its inherent judicial function of imposing sentence.

Obviously the legislature may lawfully enact mandatory sentences. E.g., O'Donnell v. State, 326 So.2d 4 (Fla. 1975) (Thirty year minimum mandatory sentence for kidnaping is constitutional); Owens v. State, 316 So.2d 537 (Fla. 1975) (Upholding minimum mandatory 25 year sentence for capital felony); State v. Sesler, 386 So.2d 293 (Fla.2d DCA 1980) (Legislature was authorized to enact 3 year mandatory minimum for

possession of firearm).

By the same token, there is no dispute that the state attorney enjoys virtually unlimited discretion to make charging decisions. *State v. Bloom*, 497 So.2d 2 (Fla. 1986) (Under Art. II, Sec. 3 of Florida's constitution the decision to charge and prosecute is an executive responsibility; a court has no authority to hold pre-trial that a capital case does not qualify for the death penalty); *Young v. State*, 699 So.2d 624 (Fla. 1997) ("[T]he decision to prosecute a defendant as an habitual offender is a prosecutorial function to be initiated at the prosecutor's discretion and not by the court."); *State v. Jogan*, 388 So.2d 322 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980) (The decision to prosecute or nolle pros pre-trial is vested solely in the state attorney).

The power to impose sentence belongs to the judicial branch. "[J]udges have traditionally had the discretion to impose any sentences within the maximum or minimum limits prescribed by the legislature." *Smith v. State*, 537 So.2d 982, 985, 986 (Fla. 1989). Directly or by implication, Florida courts have held that sentencing discretion within limits set by law is a judicial function that cannot be totally delegated to the executive branch.

In State v. Benitez, 395 So.2d 514 (Fla. 1981), the court

reviewed Section 893.135, a drug trafficking statute providing severe mandatory minimum sentences but with an escape valve permitting the court to reduce or suspend a sentence if the state attorney initiated a request for leniency based on the defendant's cooperation with law enforcement. The defendants contended that the law "usurps the sentencing function from the judiciary and assigns it to the executive branch, since [its] benefits ... are triggered by the initiative of the state attorney." Id. at 519. Rejecting that argument and finding the statute did not encroach on judicial power the court said:

> Under the statute, the ultimate decision on sentencing resides with the judge who must rule on the motion for reduction or suspension of sentence. "So long as a statute does not wrest from courts the <u>final</u> discretion to impose sentence, it does not infringe upon the constitutional division of responsibilities." <u>People v. Eason</u>, 40 N.Y. 297, 301, 386 N.Y.S. 673, 676, 353 N.E. 2d 587, 589 (1976)(Emphasis in original).

## <u>Ibid</u>.

This court assumed, therefore, that had the statute divested the court of the "final discretion" to impose sentence it would have violated separation of powers, an implicit recognition that sentencing is an inherent function of the courts.

This court made an identical assumption when the habitual offender law, Section 775.084, Florida Statutes, was attacked on

separation of powers grounds in **Seabrook v. State**, 629 So.2d 129, 130 (Fla. 1993), saying that

...the trial judge has the discretion not to sentence a defendant as a habitual felony offender. <u>Therefore</u>, <u>petitioner's contention</u> <u>that the statute violated the doctrine of</u> <u>separation of powers because it deprived</u> <u>trial judges of such discretion necessarily</u> <u>fails</u>. (Emphasis added).

The Third District Court held the same view regarding the mandatory sentencing provisions of the violent career criminal act, Section 775.084, Florida Statutes, saying that it did not violate separation of powers because the trial judge retained discretion to find that such sentencing was not necessary for protection of the public. *State v. Meyers*, 708 So.2d 661 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998). In the same vein the First District Court said in *London v. State*, 623 So.2d 527, 528 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) that "Although the state attorney may suggest that a defendant be

classified as a habitual offender, only the judiciary decides whether to classify and sentence the defendant as a habitual offender."

The foundation for judicial, as opposed to executive, discretion in sentencing was well described by Justice Scalia, albeit in a dissenting opinion:

Trial judges could be given the power to determine what factors justify a greater or lesser sentence within the statutorily prescribed limits because that was ancillary to their exercise of the judicial power of pronouncing sentence upon individual defendants. (Emphasis added).

Mistretta v. United States, 488 U.S. 361, 417-418 (1989) (Scalia, J., dissenting).

By passing the Act the legislature crossed the line dividing the executive from the judiciary. By virtue of the discretion improperly given to the state attorney, the courts are left without a voice at sentencing. This court is authorized to remedy that exclusion.

In Walker v. Bentley, 678 So.2d 1265 (Fla. 1996), this court nullified legislation that took away the circuit court's power to punish indirect criminal contempt involving domestic violence injunctions. In language which applies here the court said that any legislation which "purports to do away with the inherent power of contempt directly affects a separate and distinct

function of the judicial branch, and, as such, violates the separation of powers doctrine...." <u>Id</u>. at 1267. Sentencing, like contempt, is a "separate and district function of the judicial branch" and should be accorded the same protection.

Authority to perform judicial functions cannot be delegated. In re Alkire's Estate, 198 So.475, 482, 144 Fla. 606, 623, (1940) (Supplemental opinion):

The judicial power[s] in the several courts vested by [former] Section 1, Article V, ... <u>are not delegable</u> and cannot be abdicated in whole or in part by the <u>courts</u>. (Emphasis added.)

More specifically, the legislature has no authority to delegate to the executive branch an inherent judicial power.

Accord, Gough v. State ex rel. Sauls, 55 So.2d 111, 116 (Fla.

1951)(The legislature was without authority to confer on the Avon Park City Council the judicial power to determine the legality or validity of votes cast in a municipal election).

Applying that principle here, as construed in Woods, the Act wrongly assigns to the state attorney the sole authority to make factual findings regarding exemptions which thereafter deprive a court of sentencing discretion. Stated differently, the legislature exceeded its authority by giving the executive branch exclusive control of decisions inherent in the judicial branch.

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