IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LAVON KING,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. 95,669

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, the State of Florida, the Appellee in the First District Court of Appeal will be referred to as Respondent or the State. Petitioner, LAVON KING, the Appellant in the First District and the defendant in the trial court, will be referred to as Petitioner or by proper name.

Pursuant to Rule 9.210(b), Fla. R. App. P. (1997), this brief will refer to a volume according to its respective designation within the Index to the Record on Appeal. A citation to a volume will be followed by any appropriate page number within the volume. The symbol "IB" will refer to Petitioner's Initial Brief, followed by any appropriate page number. All double underlined emphasis is supplied.

CERTIFICATE OF FONT AND TYPE SIZE

Counsel certifies that this brief was typed using Courier New 12.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State agrees with petitioner's statement of the case and facts.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner asserts that the prison releasee reoffender statute violates the separation of powers clause and improperly delegates the authority to prescribe punishment to the executive branch prosecutor. The State respectfully disagrees. The prison releasee reoffender statute prescribes a minimum mandatory sentence which must be imposed unless specified exceptions are present. Minimum mandatory sentencing statutes do not violate the separation of powers clause because the constitutional authority to prescribe penalties for criminal offenses is exclusively legislative. the legislature is exercising its own authority when it enacts a minimum mandatory statute and the prison releasee reoffender does not violate separation of powers principles. Petitioner also argues a related claim that the legislature has improperly delegated its constitutional authority to the executive branch prosecutor. Petitioner seems to assert that the legislature may delegate discretion to the trial court but may not do so to the However, the legislature may delegate discretion to the executive branch as well as the judiciary. The prison releasee reoffender statute, like the trafficking statute, does delegate the power to not impose the minimum mandatory to the prosecutor. However, the prison releasee reoffender statute, like the habitual offender statute, requires that the prosecutor explain in writing any decision not to pursue prison releasee reoffender sentencing and file those written reasons in a central location. Thus, the

prison releasee reoffender statute does not violate the separation of powers clause of the Florida Constitution.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

<u>ISSUE I</u>

DID THE LEGISLATURE IMPROPERLY DELEGATE SENTENCING DISCRETION TO THE PROSECUTOR BY ENACTING THE PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER STATUTE, § 775.082(8)? (Restated)

Petitioner asserts that the prison releasee reoffender statute violates the separation of powers clause and improperly delegates the authority to prescribe punishment to the executive branch prosecutor. The State respectfully disagrees. The prison releasee reoffender statute prescribes a minimum mandatory sentence which must be imposed unless specified exceptions are present. Minimum mandatory sentencing statutes do not violate the separation of powers clause because the constitutional authority to prescribe penalties for criminal offenses is exclusively legislative. the legislature is exercising its own authority when it enacts a minimum mandatory statute and the prison releasee reoffender does not violate separation of powers principles. Petitioner also argues a related claim that the legislature has improperly delegated its constitutional authority to the executive branch prosecutor. Petitioner seems to assert that the legislature may delegate discretion to the trial court but may not do so to the prosecutor. However, the legislature may delegate discretion to the executive branch as well as the judiciary. Thus, the prison releasee reoffender statute does not violate the separation of powers clause of the Florida Constitution.

Presumption of Constitutionality

There is a strong presumption of constitutionality afforded to legislative acts under which courts resolve every reasonable doubt in favor of the constitutionality of the statute. See <u>State v. Kinner</u>, 398 So.2d 1360, 1363 (Fla. 1981); <u>Florida Leaque of Cities, Inc. v. Administration Com'n</u>, 586 So.2d 397, 412 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). An act should not be declared unconstitutional unless it is determined to be invalid beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Todd v. State</u>, 643 So.2d 625, 627 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994).

Standard of Review

The constitutionality of a sentencing statute is reviewed de novo. United States v. Rasco, 123 F.3d 222, 226 (5th Cir. 1997)(reviewing the constitutionality of the federal three strikes statute by de novo review); United States v. Quinn, 123 F.3d 1415, 1425 (11th Cir. 1997); Philip J. Padovano, Florida Appellate Practice § 9.4 (2d ed. 1997).

<u>Merits</u>

The Florida legislature passed the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act in 1997. CH 97-239, LAWS OF FLORIDA. The Act, codified as §775.082(8), Florida Statutes (1997), provides:

- (a)1 "Prison releasee reoffender" means any defendant who commits, or attempts to commit:
- a. Treason;
- b. Murder;
- c. Manslaughter;
- d. Sexual battery;
- e. Carjacking;

- f. Home-invasion robbery;
- g. Robbery;
- h. Arson;
- I. Kidnapping;
- j. Aggravated assault;
- k. Aggravated battery;
- 1. Aggravated stalking;
- m. Aircraft piracy;
- n. Unlawful throwing, placing, or discharging of a destructive device or bomb;
- o. Any felony that involves the use or threat of physical force or violence against an individual;
- p. Armed burglary;
- q. Burglary of an occupied structure or dwelling; or
- r. Any felony violation of s. 790.07, s. 800.04, s. 827.03, or s. 827.071;

within 3 years of being released from a state correctional facility operated by the Department of Corrections or a private vendor.

- 2. If the state attorney determines that a defendant is a prison releasee reoffender as defined in subparagraph 1., the state attorney may seek to have the court sentence the defendant as a prison releasee reoffender. Upon proof from the state attorney that establishes by a preponderance of the evidence that a defendant is a prison releasee reoffender as defined in this section, such defendant is not eligible for sentencing under the sentencing guidelines and must be sentenced as follows:
- a. For a felony punishable by life, by a term of imprisonment for life;
- b. For a felony of the first degree, by a term of imprisonment of 30 years;
- c. For a felony of the second degree, by a term of imprisonment of 15 years; and
- d. For a felony of the third degree, by a term of imprisonment of 5 years.
- (b) A person sentenced under paragraph (a) shall be released only by expiration of sentence and shall not be eligible for parole, control release, or any form of early release. Any person sentenced under paragraph (a) must serve 100 percent of the court-imposed sentence.
- (c) Nothing in this subsection shall prevent a court from imposing a greater sentence of incarceration as authorized by law, pursuant to s. 775.084 or any other provision of law.
- (d)1. It is the intent of the Legislature that offenders previously released from prison who meet the criteria in

paragraph (a) be punished to the fullest extent of the law and as provided in this subsection, unless any of the following circumstances exist:

- a. The prosecuting attorney does not have sufficient evidence to prove the highest charge available;
- b. The testimony of a material witness cannot be obtained;
- c. The victim does not want the offender to receive the mandatory prison sentence and provides a written statement to that effect; or
- d. Other extenuating circumstances exist which preclude the just prosecution of the offender.
- 2. For every case in which the offender meets the criteria in paragraph (a) and does not receive the mandatory minimum prison sentence, the state attorney must explain the sentencing deviation in writing and place such explanation in the case file maintained by the state attorney. On a quarterly basis, each state attorney shall submit copies of deviation memoranda regarding offenses committed on or after the effective date of this subsection, to the President of the Florida Prosecuting Attorneys Association, Inc. The association must maintain such information, and make such information available to the public upon request, for at least a 10-year period.

The prison releasee reoffender statute differentiates based on the seriousness of the current criminal offense. Only a defendant who commits a felony punishable by life receives a sentence of life without parole. A defendant who commits a third degree felony serves a mandatory five year sentence. The penalty a prison releasee reoffender receives varies with the degree of the current offense. The statute prescribes mandatory sentences under specified conditions with specific exceptions.

MANDATORY SENTENCING STATUTES

Mandatory sentencing statutes are commonplace both within and without Florida. Florida already has numerous mandatory minimum sentences and mandatory life without parole offenses. There are numerous minimum mandatory sentences in the trafficking statute.

§ 893.135, Fla. Stat. (1997). There is a three years minimum for possessing a firearm during certain enumerated felonies, § 775.087, Fla. Stat. (1997); there is a eight year minimum mandatory for possessing a machine gun during certain enumerated felonies § 775.087, Fla. Stat. (1997). Under the prison releasee reoffender sentencing prescription: a releasee who commits a third degree felony after being released from prison serves a minimum mandatory of five years; a releasee committing a second degree felony serves a minimum mandatory of 15 years; a releasee committing a first degree felony serves a minimum mandatory of 30 years. The Florida Legislature has merely added prison releasee reoffenders to the category of offenses for which minimum mandatory punishment is prescribed.

Further, Florida already has mandatory life <u>without</u> parole sentencing for certain offenses. There is a mandatory life without parole for several types of large trafficking offenses. § 893.135, Fla. Stat. (1997). There is a mandatory life without parole for a capital felony, which includes capital sexual battery. § 775.082(1), Fla. Stat. (1997). These are, in effect, one strike and you're out laws. The mandatory life without parole for a prison releasee reoffender who commits a felony punishable by life within three years of release from prison is simply another example of the legislature properly exercising its constitutional authority to prescribe punishments for criminal offenses and to increase those punishments for recidivists.

RECIDIVIST STATUTES

The United States Supreme Court has recognized that states have valid interest in more severely punishing recidivists whose repeated criminal acts show an incapacity or refusal to follow the norms of society as established by its criminal law. Rummel v. 445 U.S. 263, 276, 100 S.Ct. 1133, 1140. 63 L.Ed.2d 382 Estelle, (1980). This includes the authority to impose life imprisonment on those recently incarcerated who return to crime upon release; for such offenders demonstrate that even imprisonment does not prevent them from committing serious offenses. Id. The goal of legislation that imposes life imprisonment for a repeat offense is incapacitation. United States v. Washington, 109 F.3d 335, 337 (7th Cir. 1997) (discussing the reasons for the federal three strikes law). Various legislatures, dealing with offenders who commit another offense shortly after release from prison, recognize the inability of temporary imprisonment to deter repeat offenders and have provided for life imprisonment without parole for such offenders. Id.

There are strong policy arguments in favor of minimum mandatory sentencing, including scholarly research indicating that most violent crimes are committed by a small percentage of the criminal population who are habitual offenders and have no realistic prospect of reform. <u>United States v. Harris</u>, 165 F.3d 1277 (9th Cir. 1999)(Kozinski, J., dissenting from the order denying for rehearing en banc with Brunetti, O'Scannlain, Silverman and Graber, joining). As Judge Kozinski noted: "our bitter national experience

with revolving-door justice shows that rehabilitation is both hard to achieve and extremely difficult to detect" and that "[r]ational, moral lawmakers could well conclude that people who commit violent crimes are so unlikely to be rehabilitated - and so likely to victimize innocent people - that locking them up for a very long time, perhaps for good, is the only way to secure our safety." Furthermore, he observed that Congress has not adopted mandatory minimum sentences as a matter of political expediency; rather, Congress carefully and over many years considered the views of a wide variety of experts and concluded that giving sentencing judges discretion in setting the punishment for certain violent crimes does not serve the interests of our society. See also Bonin v. Calderon, 59 F.3d 815, 850-51 (9th Cir. 1995)(Kozinski, J., concurring)(detailing, in graphic terms, numerous cases of violent recidivism).

RECIDIVIST STATUTES IN OTHER STATES

Most states have recidivist statute and many, like Florida's, have been in effect for decades. Mississippi, for example, has had a three strikes statute since 1977. § 99-19-83. Mississippi's recidivist statute provides for a sentence of life without parole upon conviction for three felonies including at least one violent felony. Rummel v. Estelle, 445 U.S. 263, 100 S.Ct. 1133, 63 L.Ed.2d 382(noting that, unlike Texas, West Virginia or Washington's recidivist statutes, Mississippi's recidivist statute required one violent felony but did not permit parole).

In the wake of two brutal, highly publicized murders committed by recidivists, California passed a "three strikes law, you're out" law in 1994. Lisa E. Cowart, Comment Legislative Prerogative vs. Judicial Discretion: California's Three Strikes Law Takes a Hit, 47 DEPAUL L. REV. 615 (1998). California's three-strikes law does not contain a mandatory life without parole sentencing provision. CAL. PENAL CODE § 667(d)(3); CAL. PENAL CODE 1170.12(b)(3)(C). California requires that convicted felons serve at least eighty percent of their sentence but the trial court retains discretion to decline to sentence the defendant pursuant to the three strikes provision. People v. Superior Court (Romero), 917 P.2d 628 (Cal. 1996).

Wisconsin also passed a three strikes statute in 1994. statute, titled the increased penalty for habitual criminality statute, § 939.62, uses the language "may" increase and thus, is not a mandatory minimum sentencing scheme. A Wisconsin appellate Wisconsin's has held that three strikes court law constitutional. State v. Lindsey, 554 N.W.2d 215 (Wis. Ct. App. 1996), cert. denied, 555 N.W.2d 816 (Wis. 1996) (rejecting a separation of powers challenge).

In March 1998, the California Attorney General's office issued an report entitled: "Three Strikes and You're Out - Its Impact on the California Criminal Justice System After Four Years." The Attorney General's report stated that Three Strikes is largely responsible for the "largest overall drop in crime over any four-year period in [California] history." A copy of this report is a vailable on the Internet at http://caag.state.ca.us/piu/3strikes/threestrikes.html

Washington state has had a four strikes statute since the turn of the century, which allowed for parole. § 9.92.090. changed in 1993, by the enactment of the Persistent Offender Accountability Act (POAA), § 9.94A.120, under which all criminals convicted of a third serious offense are sentenced to life imprisonment without possibility of parole. The Supreme Court of Washington upheld the constitutionality of this statute, finding that it did not violate the doctrine of separation of powers. State v. Thorne, 921 P.2d 514, 537 (Wash. 1996); State v. Manussier, 921 P.2d 473 (Wash. 1996). Moreover, while Washington limits application of its provision to the "most serious offenses", its definition of most serious offenses includes all class A felonies as well as nineteen enumerated felonies. Included in the enumerated felonies are: vehicular homicide, § 9.94A.030(r) and promoting prostitution in the first degree, § 9.94A.030(m). Neither of these felonies would subject a defendant to Florida's prison releasee reoffender statute. Nor is actual prior or recent imprisonment required to qualify for POAA status in Washington; whereas, Florida requires recent imprisonment.

FEDERAL THREE STRIKES STATUTE

The Federal government has also passed a true three strikes statute, under which the mandatory penalty for a third offenses is life imprisonment without parole. 18 U.S.C. § 3559. A federal prosecutor has discretionary authority to charge or not charge under the statute but the sentencing court has no discretion.

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